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Alice: I’m / tall and a little overweight. I’ve got / long, brown hair. 

        I’m wearing / a pink T-shirt, white pants and pink shoes. 

        I have / a pink ribbon / in my hair.

Frida: I’m / short and slim. I’ve got / straight, black hair. 

        I’m wearing / glasses. I’m wearing / a yellow top, a red skirt and 

        sandals. 

Jane: I’m / medium-height and slim. I’ve got / short, blond hair. 

        I’m wearing / a white T-shirt, jeans and a black belt. 

        I’m wearing / a baseball cap and a backpack. 

앨리스  나는 ~이다     키가 크고 약간 과체중인            나는 가졌다    긴 갈색 머리를                  

          나는 입고 있다        분홍색 티셔츠,          흰 바지와 분홍색 신발을                                       

          나는 가졌다   분홍색 리본을         내 머리에

프리다  나는 ~이다   키가 작고 호리호리한   나는 가졌다   곧은 검은색 머리를                

          나는 끼고 있다        안경을        나는 입고 있다        노란색 윗도리,       빨간색 치마와 

          샌들을

제인    나는 ~이다   중간 키에 호리호리한               나는 가졌다   짧은 금발 머리를                

          나는 입고 있다        흰 티셔츠,                청바지와         검은색 벨트를    

          나는 쓰고 있다        야구 모자와                     배낭을

영어를 쉽게 하고 싶니?

그럼 이렇게 끊어 읽어 봐. 영어가 너무 쉬워져.

8   쭉쭉 읽어라

1 누구일까요? 

Alice: I’m tall and a little overweight. I’ve got long, brown hair. I’m wearing     
        a pink T-shirt, white pants and pink shoes. I have a pink ribbon in my 
        hair.

Frida: I’m short and slim. I’ve got straight, black hair. I’m wearing glasses.   
        I’m wearing a yellow top, a red skirt and sandals. 

Jane: I’m medium-height and slim. I’ve got short, blond hair. I’m wearing 
        a white T-shirt, jeans and a black belt. I’m wearing a baseball cap and  
        a backpack. 

1. 윗글을 읽고, 각 그림에 맞는 소녀의 이름을 빈칸에 쓰시오.       

     (A)             (B)            (C) 

정답과 해설 p. 3
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Glassfish are / small fish. Some are / light green. Some are / yellow. 

A glassfish looks / like a piece of glass. 

You can see / right /                    this fish.

You can even see / the bones / inside its body.

Most glassfish live / in the ocean. 

But / some glassfish live / in lakes / or rivers. 

Some glassfish / even live / in houses. 

People keep / them / as pets. 

글래스피시는 ~이다   작은 물고기      일부는 ~이다    밝은 녹색           일부는 ~이다    노란색 

글래스피시는 보인다          한 조각의 유리처럼                

당신은 볼 수 있다    바로       이 물고기를                           

당신은 심지어 볼 수도 있다  뼈들을             그것의 몸 안쪽의

대부분의 글래스피시는 산다    바닷속에 

하지만  일부 글래스피시는 산다          호수 안에      또는 강 속에   

일부 글래스피시는        심지어 산다      집 안에서

사람들은 기른다      그것들을  애완동물로서

끊어 읽으면 쉽다고 했지?

그런데 어떻게 끊어 읽을까?

‘한 번에 생각하기 편한 만큼’씩 끊어 읽으면 돼.

10   쭉쭉 읽어라

Glassfish are small fish. Some are light green. Some are yellow. A 
glassfish looks like a piece of glass. You can see right                this fish. 
You can even see the bones inside its body. Most glassfish live in the 
ocean. But some glassfish live in lakes or rivers. Some glassfish even live 
in houses. People keep them as pets.

2 희한한 물고기 

1. 윗글의 빈칸에 들어갈 말로 가장 적절한 것은?

   ① at         ② for               ③ in   
   ④ through          ⑤ with

2. 윗글의 물고기가 glassfish라고 불리는 이유로 가장 적절한 것은?

   ① 풀처럼 초록색이라서 

   ② 풀처럼 가벼워서

   ③ 유리 조각처럼 보여서 
   ④ 유리처럼 맑은 강에 살아서

   ⑤ 뼈가 유리 같아서

     
   

정답과 해설 p. 3
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Do you like / green? 

If / you do, / spend / St. Patrick’s Day / with some Irish people. 

You’ll see / lots of / it. 

St. Patrick’s Day is / a special Irish holiday / on 17 March. 

In Ireland, / there are / celebrations. 

In any country / Irish people live, / there are / celebrations. 

There are / parades, music and dancing. Green is / the color of Ireland. 

They wear / green clothes, / cook / green food / and even drink / green 

beer! 

너는 좋아하니         초록색을      

만약  네가 그렇다(면)  보내라  성 패트릭의 날을              몇몇 아일랜드의 사람들과 함께       

너는 알게 될 것이다   많이    그것을   

성 패트릭의 날은 ~이다          특별한 아일랜드의 공휴일             3월 17일로                   

아일랜드에는        ~이 있다        기념행사들               

어느 나라에서나           아일랜드 사람들이 사는      ~이 있다        기념행사들           

~이 있다            퍼레이드들, 음악 그리고 춤                      초록색은 ~이다   아일랜드의 색깔               

그들은 입는다        초록색 옷을                요리한다   초록색 음식을        그리고  마시기도 한다      초록색

맥주를

‘한 번에 생각하기 편한 만큼’씩 끊어 읽는다고 했지?

이것을 ‘생각 단위’라고 해.

‘생각 단위’에는 정답이 없어.

위에서처럼 In Ireland, / there are / celebrations.로 읽을 수도 있지만

In Ireland, / there are celebrations.로 끊어 읽어도 돼.

12   쭉쭉 읽어라

Do you like green? If you do, spend St. Patrick’s Day with some Irish 
people. You’ll see lots of it. St. Patrick’s Day is a special Irish holiday on 
17 March. In Ireland, there are celebrations. In any country Irish people 
live, there are celebrations. There are parades, music and dancing. Green 
is the color of Ireland. They wear green clothes, cook green food and even 
drink green beer! 

*St. Patrick’s Day 성 패트릭의 날  

1. St. Patrick’s Day에 대한 윗글의 내용과 일치하지 않는 설명은?

   ① Jack: 아일랜드의 축제일이야.  

   ② Seri: 3월 17일이야. 

   ③ Emma: 음악과 춤을 즐길 수 있어.

   ④ Tiffany: 초록색 옷을 입은 사람들을 볼 수 있어.   

   ⑤ Gijun: 초록색 음식과 맥주를 먹는 대회가 있어. 

2. 밑줄 친 부분의 우리말 뜻을 쓰시오. (do의 의미를 밝힐 것)

   → 

        정답과 해설 p. 4

3 여기도 초록색, 저기도 초록색 
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한 아기 북극곰이               묻는다    그의 어미에게      질문을

아기            엄마         나는 ~이에요   진짜 북극곰

엄마            그래   얘야    물론               너는 ~이지

                 정말요

                 그래 아들     나는 ~이다  북극곰          네 아빠는 ~이다   북극곰                   

                 네 할아버지와 할머니는 ~이다      북극곰들             네 여자 형제는 ~이다     북극곰들

                 네 남자 형제는 ~이다        북극곰들

                 나는 알아요   그것을   엄마       그러나  내가 ~이에요  진짜 북극곰

                 물론                너는 그렇지  조용히 해       그리고  먹어    네 물고기를

                 그러나   난 아니에요  북극곰이               나는 ~이에요  확신하는

                 들어라      내 말을    너는 ~이야   진짜 북극곰                     

                 왜         너는 묻니            똑같은 질문을                    되풀이해서

                 왜냐하면        나는 꽁꽁 얼게 추우니까요  

A polar bear baby / asks / his mother / a question.

BABY:       Mom, / am I / a real polar bear?

MOTHER:  Yes, dear, of course / you are. 

BABY:       Really?

MOTHER:  Yes, son. I’m / a polar bear. Your dad’s / a polar bear. 

               Your grandparents are / polar bears. Your sisters are / polar bears. 

               Your brothers are / polar bears.

BABY:       I know / that, / Mom. But / am I / a real polar bear? 

MOTHER:  Of course / you are. Be quiet / and / eat / your fish.

BABY:       But / I’m not / a polar bear, / I’m / sure. 

MOTHER:  Listen / to me. You are / a real polar bear. 

               Why / do you ask / the same question / again and again? 

BABY:       Because / I’m freezing! 

14   쭉쭉 읽어라

A polar bear baby asks his mother a question.

BABY:       Mom, am I a real polar bear?
MOTHER:  Yes, dear, ⓐof course you are. 
BABY:       Really?
MOTHER:  Yes, son. I’m a polar bear. Your dad’s a polar bear. Your  
               grandparents are polar bears. Your sisters are polar bears. 
               Your brothers are polar bears.
BABY:       I know that, Mom. But am I a real polar bear? 
MOTHER:  ⓑOf course you are. Be quiet and eat your fish.
BABY:       (A)But I’m not a polar bear, I’m sure. 
MOTHER:  Listen to me. You are a real polar bear. Why do you ask (B)the  
               same question again and again?
BABY:      Because I’m freezing! 

1. 아기 곰이 밑줄 친 (A)But I’m not a polar bear, 
  I’m sure.라고 말한 이유를 우리말로 구체적으로 쓰시오.

   → 

2. 밑줄 친 (B)the same question을 윗글에서 찾아 쓰시오.

   → 

3. 밑줄 친 ⓐ와 ⓑ 뒤에 공통으로 생략된 말을 쓰시오.

   → ⓐ of course you are .
   → ⓑ Of course you are .
  

정답과 해설 p. 5

4 나는 누굴까? 
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캄캄한 하늘이           만들었다  그것을  보이게  한밤중처럼                

하지만   ~이었다   겨우 5시                        아빠는 계셨다  직장에          

엄마와 나는          보았다        서로를                  우리는 웃지 않았다           

엄마와 나는 (내다)보았다         창문 밖을                 토네이도(회오리바람)가 빠르게 다가오고 있었다 우리 쪽으로   

많은 것들이             날리고 있었다       바람에               우리는 뛰어들어갔다  욕실 안으로                

우리는 뛰어들었다  욕조 안으로                 나는 들었다  (바람이 크게) 울부짖는 소리를  마치 기차처럼 

(계속) 있으렴  네 머리를      수그리고        엄마가 소리쳤다

The dark sky / made / it / look / like midnight. 

But / it was / only five o’clock. Dad was / at work. 

Mom and I / looked / at each other. We / didn’t smile. 

Mom and I looked / out a window. A tornado / was racing / toward us. 

Many things / were flying / in the wind. We ran / into the bathroom. 

We jumped / into the bathtub. I heard / a loud roar / like a train. 

“Keep / your head / down,” / Mom yelled. 

1. noisy 시끄러운  

    boring 지루한  

    joyful 기뻐하는  

    dangerous 위험한

2. hit hit(치다, 때리다)의 과거형  

이제부터 끊어 읽는 연습을 많이 해 봐.

영어가 너무 쉬워져.

끊어 읽는 사람과

무턱대고 읽는 사람은 하늘과 땅 차이야.

16   쭉쭉 읽어라

5 악! 우리 쪽으로 오고 있어!

The dark sky made it look like midnight. But it was only five o’clock. Dad 
was at work. Mom and I looked at each other. We didn’t smile. Mom and I 
looked out a window. A tornado was racing toward us. Many things were 
flying in the wind. We ran into the bathroom. We jumped into the bathtub. 
I heard a loud roar like a train. “Keep your head down,” Mom yelled. 

*tornado 회오리바람   

1. 윗글의 분위기를 가장 잘 나타낸 것은? 

 
   ① noisy      ② boring             ③ joyful    
   ④ quiet     ⑤ dangerous  

2. 윗글의 내용과 일치하지 않는 것은? 

   ① A tornado hit late at night.  
   ② Dad wasn’t at home.
   ③ Mom and I looked out a window.
   ④ Mom and I ran into the bathroom.
   ⑤ There was a great roar.

정답과 해설 p. 6
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이 어린이들의 박물관은                     ~이다  매우 다른                  

그것은 ~이다  ‘손으로 만질 수 있는’ 박물관  

어린이들은 만진다         그리고 논다     물건들을 가지고           전시된

그들은 배운다      함으로써         봄으로써가 아니라           

~이 있다         특별한 공연들             또한     

한 마술사가 공연한다                 첫째와 둘째 토요일                                    각 달의                           

오후 1시 30분에  

문을 연다  화요일 - 금요일                 오전 9시 30분 - 오후 4시 30분       토요일             오전 11시 - 

오후 4시 30분       그리고 일요일         오후 1시 - 오후 4시 30분          

10명 또는 그 이상의 단체는           예약을 해야 한다

This Children’s Museum / is / very different. 

It is / a “hands-on” museum. 

Children touch / and play / with the things / on display. 

They learn / by doing / not by looking. 

There are / special shows, / too. 

A magician performs / the first and second Saturday / of each month / at 

1:30 p.m. 

Open / Tuesday – Friday, / 9:30 a.m. − 4:30 p.m., / Saturday / 11:00 a.m. 

– 4:30 p.m., / and Sunday / 1:00 p.m. ‒ 4:30 p.m. 

Groups of ten or more / must make a reservation.

‘세 살 버릇 여든 간다’는 말이 있지?

영어는 습관이 중요해.

지금부터 직독직해 습관을 들여 둬.

22   쭉쭉 읽어라

6 박물관에 가면

This Children’s Museum is very different. It is a “hands-on” museum. 
Children touch and play with the things on display. They learn by doing 
not	by	looking.	There	are	special	shows,	too.	A	magician	performs	the	first	
and	second	Saturday	of	each	month	at	1:30	p.m.	Open	Tuesday	‒	Friday,	
9:30	a.m.	–	4:30	p.m.,	Saturday	11:00	a.m.	‒	4:30	p.m.,	and	Sunday	1:00	p.m.	
‒	4:30	p.m.	Groups	of	ten	or	more	must	make	a	reservation.	

1. 윗글의 박물관에서 볼 수 없는 표지판은? 

 ① ② ③

 ④  ⑤

2. Sally가 박물관에 가려고 한다. 다음 중 입장할 수 없는 시간은?

   ① 화요일 오전 10시 30분     

   ② 목요일 오후 2시   

   ③ 금요일 오후 4시         

   ④ 토요일 오전 11시 30분    

   ⑤ 일요일 오후 12시 30분  

정답과 해설 p. 7
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Some trees change / to another color / in the fall. 

Their green leaves / turn / red or yellow. 

Then / the leaves / drop off.  Other trees stay / green / all year. 

They have / leaves / all the time, / too. 

The old leaves / stay on. And / new leaves / grow.

These trees are  / evergreen. The word “ever” / means / “always.”

The trees are / always                     . 

어떤 나무들은 변한다            다른 색으로                  가을에

그들의 푸른 잎들은              변한다   붉은색이나 노란색으로 

그다음에  그 잎들은          떨어진다        다른 나무들은 남아 있다  푸른색으로  일 년 내내 

그들은 가지고 있다  나뭇잎들을  항상                 역시 

오래된 잎들은            계속 남아 있다  그리고  새 잎들이         자란다  

이런 나무들은  ~이다     상록수             ʻever’라는 단어는            의미한다      ‘항상’을  

그 나무들은 ~이다    항상                         

끊어 읽는 게 아직은 좀 어색하니?

하지만 곧 익숙해져.

끊어 읽는 데 익숙해지면 아무리 긴 문장도 겁이 안 나.

24   쭉쭉 읽어라

Some trees change to another color in the fall. Their green leaves turn red 
or	yellow.	Then	the	leaves	drop	off.	Other	trees	stay	green	all	year.	They	
have leaves all the time, too. The old leaves stay on. And new leaves grow. 
These trees are evergreen. The word “ever” means “always.” The trees are 
always .

1. 윗글의 빈칸에 들어갈 말로 가장 적절한 것은?

   ① red   ② old      ③ green   
   ④ new   ⑤ colorful

2. 윗글은 무엇에 관한 것인가?

   ① 나무의 색깔  ② 늘푸른나무   ③ 계절의 변화       
   ④ 나무의 성장  ⑤ 자연의 아름다움

정답과 해설 p. 8

7 이런 나무 봤니?
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1. choose 고르다  
    at home 집에서  

keep my promise 나의 약속을 지키다  
make a friend 친구가 되다  

I want / a pet / to play / with me. It will be / my good friend. 

But / Mom doesn’t want / to feed and clean / it. 

So / I promised / to take care of / it. 

Yesterday, / Mom and I / went / to the pet store. 

There were / fish, kittens, and puppies. I didn’t want / fish. 

I can’t play / with them. Kittens are / cute. 

But / they sleep / too much. I can’t play / with them / all the time. 

I didn’t want / a kitten. 

So / I looked / at the puppies. 

I looked / at the smallest and cutest puppy. 

She looked / at me / with her eyes. 

She smiled / and wanted / to play / with me. 

I’m going to call / her / Sunny. 

나는 원한다  애완동물을   놀        나랑 함께      그것은 될 것이다  나의 좋은 친구가              

하지만  엄마는 원치 않으신다            먹이를 주고 깨끗이 씻기기를  그것에게  

그래서  나는 약속했다     돌볼 것을                  그것을 

어제                 엄마와 나는          갔다       애완동물 가게에               

~이 있었다           물고기와 새끼 고양이와 강아지가        나는 원치 않았다       물고기를  

나는 놀 수가 없다  그것들과 함께     새끼 고양이들은 ~이다  귀엽다    

하지만  그것들은 잠을 잔다  너무 많이    나는 놀 수가 없다   그것들과           내내                    

나는 원치 않았다       새끼 고양이를    

 

그래서  나는 보았다   강아지들을   

나는 보았다    가장 몸집이 작고 가장 귀여운 강아지를                 

그 녀석이 보았다   나를         눈으로 

그 녀석은 미소 지었다  그리고 (~하고) 싶어 했다  놀고   나랑 함께    

나는 부를 것이다             그 녀석을   써니라고 
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I want a pet to play with me. It will be my good friend. But Mom doesn’t 
want to feed and clean it. So I promised to take care of it. 

Yesterday,	Mom	and	I	went	to	the	pet	store.	There	were	fish,	kittens,	and	
puppies. I didn’t want fish. I can’t play with them. Kittens are cute. But 
they sleep too much. I can’t play with them all the time. I didn’t want a 
kitten. 

So I looked at the puppies. I looked at the smallest and cutest puppy. She 
looked at me with her eyes. She smiled and wanted to play with me. I’m 
going to call her Sunny. 

1. 윗글의 주제로 가장 적절한 것은? 

   ① choosing a pet 
   ② playing at home 
   ③ keeping my promise
   ④ taking care of a kitten
   ⑤ making a new school friend

2. 윗글의 내용과 일치하도록 주어진 문장의 빈칸 (A)와 (B)에 적절한 단어를 윗글에서 

   찾아 써 넣으시오.

   I wanted to have a     (A)     because she would be a good     (B)    .

			→	(A)	             (B) 

정답과 해설 p. 8

8 친구가 필요해!
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~이 있다         많은 것    보고 냄새 맡고 맛보고 느끼고 그리고 들을 만한            추수감사절에 

무엇을      여러분이 볼 수 있을까  이 축제일에            여러분은 볼 수 있다  퍼레이드를        

여러분은 볼 수 있다   커다란 풍선들을                       

무엇을      여러분은 들을 수 있는가  추수감사절에            여러분은 들을 수 있다   노래 부르는 소리를  

사용하라  여러분의 코를   맛있는 음식 냄새를 맡도록  

여러분은 냄새 맡을 수 있다  호박 파이를  

무엇을     여러분은 느낄 수 있는가  추수감사절에              

여러분은 잡을 수 있다  여러분의 가족들의 손을 

그러고 나서  여러분은 말할 수 있다  기도를          

그리고    잊지 마라              가장 좋은 부분을     추수감사절의              

그것은 ~이다   음식   여러분은 맛볼 수 있다   모든 풍미를            그 축제일의               

맛보라  모든 추수감사절 음식을

There is / a lot / to see, smell, taste, feel, and hear / on Thanksgiving! 

What / can you see / on this holiday? You can see / a parade. 

You can look / at the big balloons! 

What / can you hear / at Thanksgiving? You can hear / singing. 

Use / your nose / to smell delicious foods. 

You can smell / pumpkin pie. 

What / can you feel / at Thanksgiving? 

You can hold / your family members’ hands.  

Then / you can say / a prayer. 

And / don’t forget / the best part / of Thanksgiving. 

It’s / the food. You can taste / all the flavors / of the holiday. 

Try / all the Thanksgiving foods!

2. dress up ~을 차려입다   

    as ~처럼   
    ghost 귀신  

    witch 마녀
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There is a lot to see, smell, taste, feel, and hear on Thanksgiving! What 
can you see on this holiday? You can see a parade. ( ⓐ ) You can look 
at the big balloons! What can you hear at Thanksgiving? You can hear 
singing. ( ⓑ ) Use your nose to smell delicious foods. ( ⓒ ) You can smell 
pumpkin pie. What can you feel at Thanksgiving? You can hold your 
family members’ hands. 

Then you can say a prayer. ( ⓓ ) And don’t forget the best part of 
Thanksgiving. It’s the food. ( ⓔ ) You can taste all the flavors of the 
holiday. Try all the Thanksgiving foods! 

1. 윗글의 ⓐ~ⓔ 중 다음 문장이 들어가기에 가장 적절한 곳은?

9 추수감사절에는 뭘 할까? 

  
   What can you smell at Thanksgiving?

   ① ⓐ     ② ⓑ      ③ ⓒ              ④ ⓓ             ⑤ ⓔ   

2. 윗글로 보아 주어진 문장의 빈칸에 적절하지 않은 것은?

   At Thanksgiving you can                                           .

   ① see a parade and big balloons
   ② hold the hands of family members 
   ③ smell a delicious pumpkin pie
   ④ dress up as a ghost or witch  
   ⑤ try all the Thanksgiving foods

                       정답과 해설 p. 9
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1. too much 너무 많은 

2. country 시골; 나라  
for the first time 처음으로  

wore wear(입다)의 과거형  

outside 밖에서  

타샤는 원했다           (날씨가) 눈이 오기를   

(시간은) ~이었다  그녀의 첫째 주  사는         미국에서                 

그녀의 가족은 왔다           필리핀에서부터                           

(날씨가) ~이다  화창하거나 비가 오거나  거기는  

그리고 (날씨가) ~이다  항상 더운     또한   (날씨가) 결코 눈이 오지 않는다       

아침에                        타샤가 일어났다      도시는 ~이었다        매우 조용한          

그녀는 보았다       창문 밖을                   눈이 ~있었다      어디에나               

차들은 움직일 수 없었다            거리에                 타샤는 데려왔다  그녀의 여동생을  

그들은 입었다         그들의 외투, 모자와 장갑을                         

그러고는  그들은 놀았다        눈 속에서             종일

Tasha wanted / it / to snow. 

It was / her first week / living / in America. 

Her family came / from the Philippines. 

It is / sunny or rainy / there. 

And / it is / always hot, / too. It never snows.

In the morning, / Tasha got up. The city was / very quiet. 

She looked / out the window. Snow was / everywhere! 

Cars could not move / on the street. Tasha got / her sister. 

They put on / their coats, hats and mittens. 

Then / they played / in the snow / all day. 
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Tasha wanted it to snow. It was her first week living in America. Her 
family came from the Philippines. It is sunny or rainy there. And it is 
always hot, too. It never snows.

In the morning, Tasha got up. The city was very quiet. She looked out the 
window. Snow was everywhere! Cars could not move on the street. Tasha 
got her sister. They put on their coats, hats and mittens. Then they played 
in the snow all day. 

1. 윗글의 제목으로 가장 적절한 것은?

   ① Tasha’s Family    
   ② Tasha’s First Snow 
   ③ Tasha’s Winter    
   ④ No Snow for Tasha
   ⑤ Too Much Snow

2. 윗글의 내용과 일치하지 않는 것은?

   ① Tasha has a sister.   
   ② Tasha has mittens.
   ③ Tasha lives in the country. 
   ④	Tasha	played	in	the	snow	for	the	first	time.
   ⑤ Tasha wore a hat to play outside.

정답과 해설 p. 10
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우주 비행사들의 몸은             변한다         우주에서           

한 변화는 ~이다         자라는 것     

우주 비행사들은 ~하게 된다  1½인치 더 키가 큰   우주에서        

그러나  그들의 심장은 ~하게 된다   더 작은    왜냐하면        피가 위로 움직인다          그들의 머리까지

그들의 뼈는 ~하게 된다   더 약한         또한    

유지하기 위해서  그들의 뼈를        강하게         우주 비행사들은 운동한다          90분                   매일

우주 비행사들은 또한 가지고 있다    문제들을       그들의 치아에                

치과 의사들은 점검한다  그들의 치아를     ~ 전에      그들이 떠나기     지구를

Astronauts’ bodies / change / in space. 

One change is / growing. 

Astronauts get / 11/2 inches taller / in space. 

But / their hearts get / smaller / because / blood moves up / to their heads. 

Their bones get / weaker, / too. 

To keep / their bones / strong, / astronauts exercise / 90 minutes / every 

day.
Astronauts also have / problems / with their teeth. 

Dentists check / their teeth / before / they leave / the earth.

영어에서 ‘직독직해’만큼 중요한 습관은 없어.

무엇보다도 영어가 쉬워지니까 말이야.

36   쭉쭉 읽어라

11 우주에서 이런 일이 

Astronauts’ bodies change in space. One change is growing. Astronauts 
get  11/2 inches taller in space. But their hearts get smaller because blood 
moves up to their heads. Their bones get weaker, too. To keep their bones 
strong, astronauts exercise 90 minutes every day. Astronauts also have 
problems with their teeth. Dentists check their teeth before they leave the 
earth. 

1. 윗글에서 주제가 되는 문장을 찾아 쓰시오. 

			→	  

2. 다음 우주 비행사들의 설명 중 윗글의 내용과 일치하지 않는 것은? 

   ① Astronaut A: 나는 우주에서 키가 커졌어. 
   ② Astronaut B: 나는 우주에서 심장이 작아졌어. 

   ③ Astronaut C: 나는 우주에서 뼈가 약해졌어. 

   ④ Astronaut D: 나는 우주에서 운동을 했어.  

   ⑤ Astronaut E: 나는 우주에서 치아를 점검했어. 

정답과 해설 p. 12



달마티안은 ~이다        큰 흰 개                          검은 점들을 가진

오래전에            대부분의 소방서들은 가졌다       한 마리를    

그 당시에                  말들은 끌었다           소방차들을        달마티안들은 좋아했다       말들을

그들은 따라서 달렸다      말 옆에서                       그리고 짖었다  

그것은 만들었다    말들을              뛰도록  아주 빠르게  

그래서 달마티안들은 ~이었다      실제적인 도움      소방관들에게

A dalmatian is / a large white dog / with black spots. 

Long ago, / most firehouses had / one.

In those days, / horses pulled / fire trucks. Dalmatians liked / horses. 

They ran along / beside the horses / and barked. 

That made / the horses / run / very fast. 

So / dalmatians were / a real help / to the fire fighters.

38   쭉쭉 읽어라

A dalmatian is a large white dog with black spots. Long ago, most 
firehouses had one. In those days, horses pulled fire trucks. Dalmatians 
liked horses. They ran along beside the horses and barked. That made the 
horses	run	very	fast.	So	dalmatians	were	a	real	help	to	the	fire	fighters.

*dalmatian 달마티안(개의 한 품종)

1. 윗글의 주제를 나타내는 문장으로 가장 적절한 것은?

   ①	Long	ago,	most	firehouses	had	a	dalmatian.
   ②	Dalmatians	were	a	real	help	to	the	fire	fighters.	
   ③ Dalmatians liked horses and ran along with them.
   ④ A dalmatian is a large white dog with black spots.
   ⑤ A dalmatian made a horse run very fast.

2. 밑줄 친 That이 가리키는 것은?

   ① Dalmatians liked horses.
   ②	Most	firehouses	had	a	dalmatian.
   ③ Dalmatians ran along and barked. 
   ④	The	horses	pulled	fire	trucks.
   ⑤ Dalmatians were a real help.

정답과 해설 p. 12
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식물은 가지고 있다  적을           많은 동물들이 (~하고) 싶어 한다  그것들(식물들)을 먹고 

하지만  식물들은 달아날 수가 없다           동물들로부터            

그래서  그것들은 가지고 있다  다른 방법들을          하게 있을 수 있는 

배워 보자           어떻게   식물들이 방어하는지    자신을            

어떤 것들은 가지고 있다   독이 있는 열매를        

덩굴옻나무(포이즌아이비)는  예를 들어   길러 낸다   독이 있는 열매를      

그 열매는 ~이다        작은 빨간색 열매                 

동물들은 안다             그 열매가 ~하다(는 것을) 독이 있다(는)  그들은 만지지 않는다      그 식물들을           

그다음      ~이 있다       식물들이    날카로운 가시가 있는               

선인장은 가지고 있다   많은 날카로운 흰 가시를                  

그것들은 막는다   동물들이      먹는 것으로부터      그 식물들을           

그리고   장미는 갖고 있다  끝이 뾰족한 가시를    그것들은 따끔거리게 할 수 있다  동물들을  또한

Plants have / enemies. Many animals want / to eat them. 

But / plants can’t run away / from animals. 

So / they have / other ways / to stay                  . 

Let’s learn / how / plants defend / themselves. 

Some have / poisonous fruits. 

Poison ivy, / for example, / grows / poisonous fruits. 

The fruits are / small red berries. 

Animals know / the fruits are / poisonous. They don’t touch / the plants. 

Then / there are / plants / with sharp spines. 

Cacti have / many sharp white spines. 

They stop / animals / from eating / the plants. 

And / roses have / pointy thorns. They can prick / animals, / too. 
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Plants have enemies. Many animals want to eat them. But plants can’t run 
away from animals. So they have other ways to stay            . Let’s learn 
how plants defend themselves.

Some have poisonous fruits. Poison ivy, for example, grows poisonous 
fruits. The fruits are small red berries. Animals know the fruits are 
poisonous. They don’t touch the plants. Then there are plants with sharp 
spines. Cacti have many sharp white spines. They stop animals from 
eating the plants. And roses have pointy thorns. They can prick animals, 
too. 

1. 윗글의 빈칸에 들어갈 말로 가장 적절한 것은? 

   ① dangerous       ② healthy   ③ green  
   ④ safe     ⑤ strong

 
2. 다음 다섯 명의 발표 내용 중 윗글의 내용과 가장 관계 깊은 것은?

   ① 미나 - 소나무는 일 년 내내 푸르러요.
   ② 지호 - 어떤 식물은 만지면 독이 올라요.    

   ③ 수민 - 날씨가 따뜻하면 꽃이 일찍 피어요.

   ④ 민수 - 꽃가루 운반은 곤충이 해요.

   ⑤ 지혜 - 풀은 동물이 뜯어먹어도 곧 다시 자라나요.

정답과 해설 p. 13
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1. weather 날씨  
    strange 이상한

    change 변하다, 바뀌다  

    hot 더운  
    cold 추운   

fast 빨리   
wind 바람  
blow (바람이) 불다  

last 계속되다  

시는 ~이다         일부분       글쓰기의          많은 시는 가지고 있다          운이 맞는 단어들을

운이 맞는 단어들이란          ~이다  단어들         (~하는)  가진         같은 소리를  

처음이나          중간,       또는 끝에    단어의 

hat, cat, 그리고 bat은       ~이다  모두 단어들     (~하는)  운이 맞는                

go, snow, 그리고 toe도       또한 운이 맞는다

Poems are / pieces / of writing. Many poems have / rhyming words. 

Rhyming words / are / words / that / have / the same sounds / at the 

beginning, middle or end / of the word.

Hat, cat, and bat / are / all words / that / rhyme. 

Go, snow, and toe / also rhyme. 

영어는 눈치 빠른 사람이 잘한다는 것 아니?

쭉쭉 직독직해하면?

내용이 쉽게 짐작되니까 영어를 잘할 수밖에!

42   쭉쭉 읽어라

Poems are pieces of writing. Many poems have rhyming words. Rhyming 
words are words that have the same sounds at the beginning, middle or 
end of the word. Hat, cat, and bat are all words that rhyme. Go, snow, and 
toe also rhyme. 

1. 윗글을 읽고, 다음 시에서 rhyming words를 모두 찾아 쓰시오.

14 라임이 뭐예요? 

  The Weather

  The weather is strange,
  Because it can change,

  From hot to cold so fast.
  The wind can blow, 

  Or it will snow,
  But that will never last.  

  ......

			→	

정답과 해설 p. 14
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1. true 진실한

    happen 일어나다, 발생하다 
2. simple 간단한

    healthy 건강한 

미국 아이들은                     보통 섭취한다       20 찻숟가락의 설탕을                 하루에

여러분은 믿을 수 있는가    이것을  

일부는      그 설탕의               (들어) 있다     사탕, 소다수, 그리고 쿠키 안에       

그것들은 ~이다 맛이 단   우리는 안다       그것들이 가지고 있다(는 것을)  설탕을

하지만  많은 설탕이                    있다  숨겨져       

식품 회사들은                 첨가한다  설탕을    많은 식품에               

우리는 알지 못한다        설탕이 있다(는 것을)  거기에   

모든 사람이 알고 있다       설탕이 안 좋다(는 것을)  우리의 건강에          

그것은 초래할 수 있다   심각한 건강 문제들을                             

그것은 ~이다   또한 안 좋은   우리의 치아에     

설탕은 일으키는 원인이 될 수 있다  충치를   우리는 (~할) 필요가 있다  만들   우리의 음식을  덜             

American children / usually eat / 20 teaspoons of sugar / a day. 

Can you believe / it? 

Some / of that sugar / is / in candies, soda pop, and cookies. 

They are / sweet. We know / they have / sugar. 

But / a lot of the sugar / is / hidden. 

Food companies / add / sugar / to many foods. 

We don’t know / the sugar is / there. 

Everyone knows / sugar is bad / for our health. 

It can lead / to serious health problems. 

It is / also bad / for our teeth. 

Sugar can cause / cavities. We need / to make / our food / less                 .
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American children ⓐusually eat 20 teaspoons of sugar a day. Can you 
ⓑbelieve it? Some of that sugar is in candies, soda pop, and cookies. They 
are sweet. We know they have sugar. But a lot of the sugar is ⓒhidden. 
Food companies add sugar to many foods. We don’t know the sugar is 
there. Everyone knows sugar is bad for our health. It can lead to ⓓserious 
health problems. It is also bad for our teeth. Sugar can ⓔcause cavities. We 
need to make our food less                    . 

1. 밑줄 친 ⓐ~ⓔ의 풀이로 적절하지 않은 것은?  

   ① ⓐ usually: most often
   ② ⓑ believe: to think something is true
   ③ ⓒ	hidden:	easy	to	find	
   ④ ⓓ serious: very bad 
   ⑤ ⓔ cause: to make something happen

2. 윗글의 빈칸에 들어갈 말로 가장 적절한 것은? 

   ① hidden      ② simple     ③ sweet    
   ④ healthy     ⑤ serious

정답과 해설 p. 15

15 이래도 설탕이 좋아?
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신데렐라는 가졌다        아주 멋진 시간을               파티에서                

그녀는 춤추고 있었다        왕자와        

갑자기              그녀는 들었다    시계가            울리는 것을   한 번          

그녀는 기억했다               요정의 말을                   그녀는 떠나야 했다           파티를      

그녀는 밖으로 뛰어나갔다  그리고 계단을 내려갔다    

~하면서 그녀가 뛰(면서)  그녀는 잃어버렸다  그녀의 신발 중 한 짝을      

그러나  그녀는 집을 수 없었다       그것을  위로  

~일 때      시계가 만들었을 (때)     그것의 마지막 종을     마술은             사라질 것이다

그녀는 뛰고 뛰었다          그녀의 집까지

Cinderella had / a wonderful time / at the party. 

She was dancing / with the Prince. 

Suddenly, / she heard / the clock / ring / one time. 

She remembered / the fairy’s words. She had to leave / the party. 

She ran out / and down the steps. 

As / she ran, / she lost / one of her shoes. 

But / she couldn’t pick / it / up. 

When / the clock made / its final ring, / the magic / would be gone. 

She ran and ran / to her house. 

재미있는 글이지?

영어는 문법을 따지기보다

글 자체에서 재미를 느껴야 해.

그래서 역시 직독직해가 가장 좋은 방법이야.
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Cinderella had a wonderful time at the party. She was dancing with the 
Prince. Suddenly, she heard the clock ring one time. She remembered the 
fairy’s words. She had to leave the party. She ran out and down the steps. 
As she ran, she lost one of her shoes. But she couldn’t pick it up. When the 
clock	made	its	final	ring,	the	magic	would	be	gone.	She	ran	and	ran	to	her	
house. 

1. 윗글에서 느껴지는 분위기로 가장 적절한 것은? 

   ① 지루하다        ② 평화롭다        ③ 시끌벅적하다     

   ④ 다급하다       ⑤ 두렵다 

2. 밑줄 친 it이 가리키는 것을 윗글에서 찾아 쓰시오.

			→	

정답과 해설 p. 16

16 신데렐라가 왕자를 만나…
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우리는 얻는다  음식을  나무로부터       우리는 사용한다  목재를  집을 위해서

우리는 또한 만든다      종이를      나무로부터   

식목일에                    사람들은 심는다     새로운 나무들을  아이들은 돕는다         역시 

많은 나무들이 시작한다       그들의 삶을        이날에

식목일에                    사람들은 원한다       말하기를     “고마워”라고            나무들에게

그리고    그것은 ~이다   일종의 생일            나무를 위한

그러므로  다음 식목일에            당신은 말할 수 있다    생일 축하해                                       

We get / food / from trees. We use / wood / for houses. 

We also make / paper / from trees.

On Arbor Day, / people plant / new trees. Children help, / too.  

Many trees begin / their lives / on this day. 

On Arbor Day, / people want / to say / “Thank you” / to trees. 

And / it is / a kind of birthday / for trees. 

So, / next Arbor Day / you can say, / “Happy Birthday, /                    !”
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We get food from trees. We use wood for houses. We also make paper 
from trees. On Arbor Day, people plant new trees. Children help, too. 
Many trees begin their lives on this day. On Arbor Day, people want to 
say “Thank you” to trees. And it is a kind of birthday for trees. So, next 
Arbor Day you can say, “Happy Birthday,                  !”

1. 윗글의 빈칸에 들어갈 말로 가장 적절한 것은?

   ① wood          ② trees          ③ people         
   ④ children          ⑤ paper

2. 윗글의 제목으로 가장 적절한 것은?

   ① Wood for Our Use   ② Planting New Trees
   ③ Arbor Day for Trees   ④ Our Food from Trees
   ⑤ Birthday Party

3. Arbor Day를 우리말로 옮기시오.

→	
정답과 해설 p. 17

17 고맙다, 나무야 
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여러분은 생각해야 한다      여러분의 지역 사회에 대해               

여러분은 도와야 한다       문제를 해결하도록        여러분은 느낄 것이다  기분이 좋다고  

우선      자신에게 물어보라   몇 가지 질문을 

무슨 문제가               걱정하게 하는가  여러분을  어떻게  여러분이 도울 수 있을까 

그다음에는 계획을 세워라  

    

진은 ~이다  걱정하는       버림받은 애완동물들에 대해                

사람들은 두고 갔다  그것들을  길거리에    

진은 만든다          쿠키를          그리고 판다     그것들을  

그녀는 사용한다  그 돈을            돕기 위해     이 애완동물들을     

많은 애완동물이 산다   특별한 집에             진은 준다           돈을                  그 집에              

그 돈은 도움이 된다           먹이를 사는 데     

마이크와 리즈는 좋아하지 않는다       쓰레기를  그들은 계획한다  청소 행사를            

그들은 청소한다         지역 공원과 강을

여러분은 도울 수 있다  다른 이들을  또한  

저축하라  동전들을  넣어라   그것들을  병에

~할 때      그것이 가득 찰 (때)  기부하라  그 돈을          지역 단체에  

You should think / about your community. 

You should help / solve problems. You will feel / good. 

First / ask yourself / some questions. 

What problem / worries / you? How / can you help? 

Then / make a plan! 

Jean is / worried / about abandoned pets. 

People left / them / on the street. 

Jean makes / cookies / and sells / them. 

She uses / the money / to help / these pets. 

Many live / in a special home. Jean gives / the money / to that home.  

The money helps / buy food. 

Mike and Liz don’t like / litter. They plan / cleanup events. 

They clean up / local parks and rivers. 

You can help / others / too! 

Save / coins. Put / them / in a jar. 

When / it is full, / donate / the money / to a community group.
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You should think about your community. You should help solve problems. 
You will feel good. First ask yourself some questions. What problem 
worries you? How can you help? Then make a plan!

Jean is worried about abandoned pets. People left them on the street. Jean 
makes cookies and sells them. She uses the money to help these pets. 
Many live in a special home. Jean gives the money to that home. The 
money helps buy food. Mike and Liz don’t like litter. They plan cleanup 
events. They clean up local parks and rivers.

You can help others too! Save coins. 
Put them in a jar. When it is full, 
donate the money to a community 
group. 

1. 윗글의 주제로 가장 적절한 것은? 

   ① helping your community 
   ② saving your pennies
   ③ why you should donate 
   ④ how to help sick animals
   ⑤ protecting plants and animals

2. 밑줄 친 donate와 뜻이 가장 가까운 단어를 윗글에서 찾아 쓰시오. 

			→	

정답과 해설 p. 17

18 난 무엇을 할 수 있을까?
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타이완에서는       야시장이 ~이다                 매우 인기 있는         

사람들은 산다        맛있는 음식                  좋은 옷과                     다른 유행하는 것들을                                                

거기에서  

그것들의 대부분은               ~이다  매우 싼          

많은 음식 가판점들이           ~이다  매우 특별한             

사람들은 한다     많은 흥미진진한 것들을               또한   

그들은 간다    낚시를        그리고 한다     많은 종류의 게임을                  

야시장을 방문하는 것은                 ~이다  많이 재미있는   놓치지 마라         그것을   

나는 믿는다     당신이 사랑할 것이라고 그것을

In Taiwan, / night markets are / very popular. 

People buy / delicious food, / nice clothes and other fashionable things / 

there. 

Most of the things / are / very cheap. 

Many food stands / are / very special. 

People do / many exciting things, / too. 

They go / fishing / and play / many kinds of games. 

Visiting a night market / is / a lot of fun. Don’t miss / it!  

I believe / you will love / it.

끊어 읽기 해보니까 어때?

영어가 쉬워지지?

끊어 읽기에 익숙해지면 

생각 단위가 넓어져.
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In Taiwan, night markets are very popular. People buy delicious food, nice 
clothes and other fashionable things there. Most of the things are very 
cheap. Many food stands are very special. People do many exciting things, 
too. They go fishing and play many kinds of games. Visiting a night 
market is a lot of fun. Don’t miss it! I believe you will love it. 

1. 윗글의 제목을 아래와 같이 쓸 때 빈칸에 적절한 말을 쓰시오.

			→	    in Taiwan

2. 밑줄 친 In Taiwan, night markets are very popular.의 이유로 

   언급되지 않은 것은?

   ① 음식 맛이 뛰어나서

   ② 최신 유행품을 살 수 있어서

   ③ 가격이 아주 저렴해서

   ④ 재미있는 체험을 할 수 있어서

   ⑤ 역사와 전통이 있어서 

정답과 해설 p. 18

19 타이완에서 만나요
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화산은 ~이다          산                    ~가 있다       마그마         한가운데                 그것의

마그마는 ~이다  뜨겁고 액체 상태로 된 암석  

화산은 ~이다             위험한               ~할 때    마그마가 터질(때)             쾅           

그것이 뿜어져 나온다   산 밖으로                 이제       그것은 불린다     용암이라고            

용암은 흘러내린다                    옆 부분          산의                          그것은 ~이다  매우 뜨거운     

화산은              때때로 만든다                 섬을            바다에                  

화산은 있다                물속에                         

그것이 분출한다   그리고  용암이 들어간다    물속으로                             

~할 때     용암이 식을 (때)          그것은 된다         단단한 바위가 

여러 차례 분출이 일어난 뒤에        산이 커진다                      물 밖으로 (나오게 된다)  

하와이는 ~이다   군도                             그것의 섬들은     형성되었다          이런 식으로

A volcano is / a mountain. There is / magma / in the middle / of it. 

Magma is / hot, liquid rock. 

Volcanoes are / dangerous / when / the magma erupts. Boom! 

It shoots / out of the mountain. Now / it is called / lava. 

The lava flows down / the side / of the mountain. It is / very hot. 

Volcanoes / sometimes make / islands / in the ocean. 

The volcano is / under the water. 

It erupts / and / the lava goes / into the water. 

When / the lava cools, / it becomes / hard rock. 

After many eruptions, / a mountain grows / out of the water. 

Hawaii is / a group of islands. Its islands / were made / this way. 
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A volcano is a mountain. There is magma in the middle of ⓐit. Magma is 
hot, liquid rock. Volcanoes are dangerous when the magma erupts. Boom! 
ⓑIt	shoots	out	of	the	mountain.	Now	it	is	called	lava.	The	lava	flows	down	
the side of the mountain. ⓒIt is very hot.

Volcanoes sometimes make islands in the ocean. The volcano is under the 
water. It erupts and the lava goes into the water. When the lava cools, it 
becomes hard rock. After many eruptions, a mountain grows out of the 
water. Hawaii is a group of islands. Its islands were made this way. 

1. 윗글을 요약한 다음 문장의 빈칸 (A)와 (B)에 들어갈 말로 가장 적절한 것은?

20 화산이 터져요 

  Lava comes out of a    (A)   , and when it cools, it becomes hard    (B)   .

 
        (A)               (B)
   ① volcano       rock  
   ② volcano       magma
   ③ rock          magma
   ④ rock         volcanoes
   ⑤ magma       islands

2. 밑줄 친 ⓐ, ⓑ, ⓒ가 각각 가리키는 것을 영어로 쓰시오. 

 
			→	ⓐ 
        ⓑ 
        ⓒ 

                정답과 해설 p. 19
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안녕          모두들

  
여러분은 가졌는가      즐거운 주말을                        

나의 주말은 ~이었다           매우 즐거운     

나는 갔다    많은 재미있는 곳들에

왜냐하면        목요일은 ~이다      공휴일              ~이 있을 것이다      수업이 하나도 없을  그날에                  

10월 2일                

다음 수업은                ~있을 것이다  10월 9일에                    

나는 만들 것이다    게시문을    다음 수업의 주제에 관한                        금요일에             

볼 것이다  여러분을  다음 주에

Hello, / everybody! 

Did you have / a fun weekend? 

My weekend was / very fun. 

I went / to many interesting places. 

Because / Thursday is / a holiday, / there will be / no class / that day, / 

October 2nd.  

The next class / will be / on October 9th. 

I will make / a post / about the next class’s topic / on Friday. 

See / you / next week!

음식도 ‘한 번에 먹기 좋은 만큼’씩 나눠서 먹지?

영어도 마찬가지야.

‘한 번에 이해하기 좋은 만큼’씩 끊어 읽는 게 좋아.
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Hello, everybody!

Did you have a fun weekend? My weekend was very fun. I went to many 
interesting places.

Because Thursday is a holiday, there will be no class that day, October 
2nd. The next class will be on October 9th. I will make a post about the 
next class’s topic on Friday.

See you next week! 

1. 윗글의 종류로 가장 적절한 것은? 

   ① 편지   ② 공지    ③ 학급 일지

   ④ 연설문   ⑤ 가정통신문

2. 윗글의 내용과 일치하지 않는 것은?

   ① 목요일은 공휴일이다.

   ② 다음 주 목요일까지 수업이 없다. 

   ③ 10월 2일에 수업이 없다.

   ④ 다음 수업은 10월 9일에 한다.

   ⑤ 금요일에 다음 수업의 주제를 알려 준다.

정답과 해설 p. 20
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1. smart 똑똑한  
    wall 벽  

    excellent 훌륭한  

    close 문을 닫다  

    

    cloudy (하늘이나 날씨가) 흐린  

    day 날  

    can’t be seen 보이지 않는다  

2. build 짓다 

여러분은 가고 싶은가                학교에       지하에 있는                       

어린이들은      버지니아 마을의                 한다   이것을   

그들의 이전의 학교는 ~이었다     큰 건물                

그것은 ~이었다     비싼       난방하기에 

그래서  사람들은 원했다                학교 건물을                     (~한 것) 난방이 필요 없는               

그들은 생각했다         땅은 ~이다          따뜻한    

그래서  그들은 두었다  학교를            지하에                     

땅은 따뜻하게 한다             학교를              겨울에            

오직 지붕만이           튀어나온다        땅 위로                              

큰 유리 창문들이                  지붕 위의            잡는다      태양의 열기를

Would you like to go / to a school / underground? 

Children / in a Virginia town / do / this. 

Their old school was / a big building. 

It was / expensive / to heat. 

So / the people wanted / a school building / that / didn’t need heat. 

They thought / the earth is / warm. 

So / they put / the school / underground. 

The ground heats / the school / in winter. 

Only the roof / sticks out / above the ground. 

Big glass windows / on the roof / catch / the sun’s heat.

66   쭉쭉 읽어라

Would you like to go to a school underground? Children in a Virginia 
town do this. Their old school was a big building. It was expensive to heat. 
So the people wanted a school building that didn’t need heat. They thought 
the earth is warm. So they put the school underground. The ground heats 
the school in winter. Only the roof sticks out above the ground. Big glass 
windows on the roof catch the sun’s heat. 

1. You know that the school                               .
  
   ① has smart students               
   ② has no windows in its walls   
   ③ has many excellent teachers       
   ④ closes on cloudy days  
   ⑤ can’t be seen from the ground 

2. Why did people in Virginia build a school underground? 
    (Write in Korean)

			→	

   

정답과 해설 p. 21
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69

브라이언은 ~이었다 세 살                   그는 갔다       동물원으로         엄마와 함께

그는 원했다         고릴라를 보기를               브라이언은 달려갔다  고릴라들에게

그는 올라갔다       울타리를     그러고 나서  그는 떨어졌다  그는 떨어졌다  18피트만큼

그는 있었다   고릴라들과 함께             그때     7마리의 고릴라들이 걸어갔다        그에게로  

한 고릴라가 ~이었다       어미             그녀의 이름은 ~이었다  빈티

빈티가 집어 들었다        브라이언을  그녀는 들고 갔다  그를   문 쪽으로 

그녀는 섰다       문에                그녀는 붙들었다  브라이언을

그녀는 토닥거렸다  브라이언을  등 위에           빈티는 ~이었다  훌륭한 엄마     

한 남자가 왔다        그 문으로           빈티는  주었다    브라이언을  그 사람에게    

브라이언은 갔다    병원으로                  그는 가졌다  부러진 한 팔을           하지만  그는 무사했다

Brian was / three years old. He went / to the zoo / with his mother. 

He wanted / to see the gorillas. Brian ran / to the gorillas. 

He climbed / a fence. Then / he fell. He fell / 18 feet. 

He was / with the gorillas / now. Seven gorillas walked / to him. 

One gorilla was / a mother. Her name was / Binti.  

Binti picked up / Brian. She carried / him / to a door.  

She stood / at the door. She held / Brian.  

She patted / Brian / on the back. Binti was / a good mother! 

A man came / to the door. Binti gave / Brian / to the man. 

Brian went / to the hospital. He had / a broken arm, / but / he was OK.

긴 글을 보면 겁이 나니?

하지만 직독직해하면 긴 글도 걱정할 필요 없어.
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Brian was three years old. ⓐHe went to the zoo with his mother. He 
wanted to see the gorillas. Brian ran to the gorillas. He climbed a fence. 
Then he fell. He fell 18 feet. ⓑHe was with the gorillas now. Seven 
gorillas walked to him. One gorilla was a mother. Her name was Binti. 
ⓒBinti picked up Brian. She carried him to a door. She stood at the door. 
She held Brian. She patted Brian on the back. ⓓBinti was a good mother! 
A man came to the door. Binti gave Brian to the man. ⓔBrian went to 
the hospital. He had a broken arm, but he was OK.

1. Binti carried Brian to the door because she                                     .

   ① knew that he had a broken arm
   ② wanted to give him to his mother 
   ③ wanted to go out of the zoo with him
   ④ knew that he was not good for her food
   ⑤ liked to play at the door

2. 밑줄 친 ⓐ~ⓔ 중에서 윗글의 주제로 가장 적절한 것은?

 
   ① ⓐ        ② ⓑ              ③ ⓒ            ④ ⓓ           ⑤ ⓔ

정답과 해설 p. 22
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페이지의 중앙에                          그려라     직선을                      

그려라      그 선을        2cm 길이로      

이 선의 시작에                           그려라     또 하나의 선을      

그것은 가리킨다  그 페이지의 아래쪽으로                           그것은 ~이다   2cm 길이  역시   

첫 번째 선의 끝에                             그려라      다른 선을              

그것은 가리킨다   그 페이지의 아래쪽으로                          그것은 ~이다  또한 2cm 길이              

이제       그려라     직선을                     연결하는             두 열린 끝부분을                    

무엇을     당신은 그렸는가

In the middle of a page / draw / a straight line. 

Draw / the line / 2cm long. 

At the start of this line / draw / another line. 

It points / towards the bottom of the page. It is / 2cm long, / too. 

At the end of the first line / draw / another line. 

It points / towards the bottom of the page. It is / also 2cm long.  

Now / draw / a straight line / connecting / the two open ends. 

What / did you draw? 

앞으로 영어를 볼 때마다 직독직해를 하도록 해.

이보다 더 좋은 방법은 없어.
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In the middle of a page draw a straight line. Draw the line 2cm long. At 
the start of this line draw another line. It points towards the bottom of the 
page.	It	is	2cm	long,	too.	At	the	end	of	the	first	line	draw	another	line.	It	
points towards the bottom of the page. It is also 2cm long. Now draw a 
straight line connecting the two open ends. What did you draw? 

 

1. 윗글의 설명대로 그림을 그렸을 때 종이 위에 그려진 도형의 모양으로 

   가장 적절한 것은? 

   ①　            ②　

   ③　             ④ 　            ⑤　

                                        

정답과 해설 p. 22

24 무엇을 그렸니? 



73

익스트림 스포츠는 ~이다               다른             다른 스포츠들과는         

익스트림 스포츠는 ~이다       더 위험한                     다른 스포츠들보다                

선수들은 ~이다             정말로 용감한           

그들은 훈련한다   열심히    그리고 갖고 있다  특별한 기술들을          

다른 사람들은 ~이다        두려워하는  하기를    이 일들을                 

그러나    그것들은 ~이다   신나는           선수들에게                       왜냐하면         그것들은 ~이다 

도전 의식을 북돋우는

알래스카에서      개썰매 경주는               ~이다                         

아이디타로드 개썰매 경주는 ~이다  도전 의식을 북돋우는 개썰매 경주       

그 경주는 ~이다   약 1,200마일                    거리가 ~인 

그것은 보통 걸린다        약 2주일                        끝내는 데         

그것은 지나간다   꽁꽁 얼고 눈 덮인 땅 위를    

각 경주자들은 이끈다       한 팀을       12에서 16마리의 개들의    그들은 끈다      썰매를      

경주자들은 날라야 한다               그들 자신의 물품을                  

그들은 ~해야 한다  또한 돌봐야                 개들을           경주 코스를 따라

The extreme sports are / different / from other sports. 

Extreme sports are / more dangerous / than other sports. 

The athletes are / really brave. 

They train / hard / and have / special skills. 

Other people are / afraid / to do / these things. 

But / they are / exciting / for the athletes / because / they are / 

challenging.

In Alaska, / sled dog racing / is /                         . 

The Iditarod is / a challenging sled dog race. 

The race is / about 1,200 miles / long. 

It usually takes / about two weeks / to finish. 

It passes / over frozen, snowy land. 

Each racer leads / a team / of 12 to 16 dogs. They pull / a sled. 

The racers must carry / their own supplies. 

They must / also take care of / the dogs / along the racing trail. 

[A]

[B]
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The	extreme	sports	are	different	from	other	sports.	Extreme sports 
are more dangerous than other sports. The athletes are really brave. 
ⓐThey train hard and have special skills. Other people are afraid to 
do these things. But ⓑthey are exciting for the athletes because they 
are challenging.
 
In Alaska, sled dog racing is             . The Iditarod is a challenging 
sled dog race. The race is about 1,200 miles long. It usually takes 
about	two	weeks	to	finish.	It	passes	over	frozen,	snowy	land.	Each	
racer leads a team of 12 to 16 dogs. ⓒThey pull a sled. The racers 
must carry their own supplies. They must also take care of the dogs 
along the racing trail. 

 *Iditarod 아이디타로드 개썰매 경주

1. [A]의 밑줄 친 Extreme sports와 어울리는 세 단어를 찾아 쓰시오.

			→	

2. [B]의 빈칸에 알맞은 세 단어를 [A]에서 찾아 쓰시오. (필요하면 변형할 것)

			→	

3. 밑줄 친 ⓐ, ⓑ, ⓒ가 가리키는 것을 영어로 구체적으로 쓰시오.

			→	ⓐ   
        ⓑ 
        ⓒ 
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대부분의 식물들은 얻는다  영양분을  땅에서부터                하지만  한 식물은 ~이다     특별한

그것은 잡는다    벌레를   벌레는 ~이다   먹이       식물을 위한 

이 식물은 ~이다      파리지옥           그것은 ~이다  좋은 이름            그것을 위해서  

파리 한 마리가  다가온다       그것은 멈춘다  쉬기 위하여  나뭇잎 위에 

나뭇잎은 가진다      두 개의 부분을  그것들은 닫는다  아주 빠르게   그것들은 잡는다    그 파리를 

그것은 밖으로 나올 수 없다  주의해라          파리야

Most plants get / food / from the ground. But / one plant is / special. 

It catches / bugs. Bugs are / food / for the plant. 

This plant is / the flytrap. That is / a good name / for it.

A fly / comes along. It stops / to rest / on a leaf. 

The leaf has / two parts. They shut / very fast. They catch / the fly. 

It cannot get out. Watch out, / fly!

끊어 읽기에 익숙해지면 ‘생각 단위’가 넓어진다고 했지?

계속 연습하다 보면 

Bugs are food / for the plant. 
This	plant	is	the	flytrap.	
That is a good name / for it.
이렇게 더 넓게 끊어 읽을 수 있어.
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Most plants get food from the ground. But one plant is special. It catches 
bugs.	Bugs	are	food	for	the	plant.	This	plant	is	the	flytrap.	That	is	a	good	
name for ⓐit.	A	fly	comes	along.	ⓑIt stops to rest on a leaf. The leaf has 
two	parts.	They	shut	very	fast.	They	catch	the	fly.	It	cannot	get	out.	Watch	
out,	fly!

*flytrap 파리지옥

 

1. 밑줄 친 ⓐit과 ⓑIt이 가리키는 것을 윗글에서 찾아 쓰시오.

   ⓐ	it	→	              ⓑ	It	→	         

2. 윗글의 중심 내용이 가장 잘 나타난 것은? 

   ①	The	flytrap	catches	bugs.	
   ②	The	flytrap	is	a	good	name.
   ③ Bugs are good for the plant.
   ④ Most plants get food from the ground.
   ⑤ The leaf has two parts.
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공기는 ~이다    매우 안 좋은    몽골 울란바토르의                                

많은 사람들이 생각한다         공기가       베이징의            나쁘다(고)        

그런데  울란바토르의 공기가 ~이다     훨씬 더 나쁜         그것은 ~이다   매우 더럽고 오염되어 있는            

그 도시는 ~이다   아주 추운         겨울에

기온이                         떨어질 수 있다  영하 30도까지   

그래서  사람들은 태운다   석탄, 플라스틱, 그리고 타이어를    

그들은 원한다      따뜻한 상태로 계속 있기를  하지만  이것들은 ~이다      매우 나쁜        공기에      

  

세계 보건 기구(WHO)는 가지고 있다  표준을  건강에 좋은 공기에 대한         

울란바토르의 공기는                    ~일 수도 있다    35배 더 높은          그 표준보다                    

상황은 ~이다               가장 나쁜         아침에                         

1,200명 정도의 사람들이         사망한다   그것 때문에         해마다

그들 중 120명 정도가            ~이다  아이들     

The air is / very bad / in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia. 

Many people think / the air / in Beijing / is bad. 

But / Ulaanbaatar’s air is / much worse. It is / very dirty and polluted. 

The city is / very cold / in winter. 

The temperature / can drop / to –30°C. 

So / people burn / coal, plastic and tires. 

They want / to keep warm. But / these things are / very bad / for the air. 

The WHO has / a standard / for healthy air. 

The air in Ulaanbaatar / can be / 35 times higher / than the standard. 

The situation is / the worst / in the mornings. 

About 1,200 people / die / because of it / every year. 

About 120 of them / are / children.
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The air is very bad in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia. Many people think the air 
in Beijing is bad. But Ulaanbaatar’s air is much worse. It is very dirty 
and polluted. The city is very cold in winter. The temperature can drop to 
–30°C. So people burn coal, plastic and tires. They want to keep warm. 
But these things are very bad for the air.

The WHO has a standard for healthy air. The air in Ulaanbaatar can be 35 
times higher than the standard. The situation is the worst in the mornings. 
About 1,200 people die because of it every year. About 120 of them are 
children.                             

  *WHO (= World Health Organization): 세계 보건 기구 

1. 다음은 윗글의 제목이다. 빈칸에 알맞은 단어를 윗글에서 찾아 쓰시오. (필요하면 변형할 것)

			→	Air	  in Mongolia
 

2. 윗글의 내용과 일치하지 않는 것은? 

 
   ① About 120 children die in Mongolia every year because of bad air.  
   ② The temperature in Ulaanbaatar can drop to –30°C.
   ③ People burn coal, plastic and tires to keep their homes warm. 
   ④ The air in Beijing is worse than that in Ulaanbaatar. 
   ⑤ The air in Ulaanbaatar is the dirtiest in the mornings. 

정답과 해설 p. 25
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한 젊은 병사가                 대화를 하고 있었다                                 어느 날         에이브러햄 링컨과 함께           

                 그들은 토론하고 있었다             어려움들을                 전쟁 수행에 관하여

젊은 병사는 들었다                          링컨 대통령의 생각을                       ~에 관하여  어떻게  전쟁을 이기

는가

  자네는 알지           링컨이 말했다            이 모든 세월이 지난 후             나는 마침내 발견했네  

최고의 방법을         파멸할 수 있는    적군을

   무엇입니까   그것은    대통령 각하                  젊은 병사가 물었다 

  그것은 ~이라네  아주 간단한    링컨은 말했다        만들어라   그를     자네의 친구로

A young soldier / was having a conversation / one day / with Abraham 

Lincoln. They were discussing / the difficulties / of fighting a war. 

The young soldier heard / President Lincoln’s ideas / on / how / to win the 

war.

“You know,” / said Lincoln, / “after all these years, / I finally discovered / 

the best way / to destroy / the enemy.” 

“What is / that, / Mr. President?” / asked the young soldier.

“It’s / very simple,” / said Lincoln. “Make / him / your friend.”

영어를 잘하는 가장 큰 비결?

그야 역시 직독직해지.

뭐니뭐니해도 영어가 쉬워지니까.
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A young soldier was having a conversation one day with Abraham 
Lincoln.	They	were	discussing	the	difficulties	of	fighting	a	war.	The	young	
soldier heard President Lincoln’s ideas on how to win the war. 
	“You	know,”	said	Lincoln,	“after	all	these	years,	I	finally	discovered	the 
best way to destroy the enemy.”
 “What is that, Mr. President?” asked the young soldier.
 “It’s very simple,” said Lincoln. “Make him your friend.”

1. 윗글의 내용으로 보아 밑줄 친 the best way to destroy the enemy의 

   의미로 가장 적절한 것은?

   ① 전쟁에서 이기는 것   ② 용감하게 싸우는 것

   ③ 적을 친구로 만드는 것    ④ 좋은 무기를 만드는 것

   ⑤ 적과 협상을 잘하는 것

2. We can say that Lincoln loved                               .

  ① money   ② wars   ③ honor   
  ④ friends   ⑤ peace 

정답과 해설 p. 26
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여기에 있다   날씨가                 오늘 밤과 내일을 위한

흐린 날씨는                          계속 될 것이다     그리고  구름이 덮일 것이다           오늘 밤에

~가 있을 수도 있다     약간의 폭우(가)               밤에     

~가 있을 수도 있다     더 많은 비(가)               내일 오전에                         하지만  ~이 있을 것이다     

약간의 햇빛(이)            오후에      

기온은                          떨어질 것이다  섭씨 10도까지  오늘 밤에  하지만 상승할 것이다  섭씨 19도까지  

내일 오후에

Here is / the weather / for tonight and tomorrow. 

The cloudy weather / will go on, / and / clouds will cover / tonight. 

There may be / some heavy rain / at night. 

There may be / some more rain / tomorrow morning, / but / there will be / 

some sunshine / in the afternoon. 

The	temperature	/	will	fall	/	to	10℃	/	tonight	/	but	will	rise	/	to	19℃	/	

tomorrow afternoon. 

84   쭉쭉 읽어라

Here is the weather for tonight and tomorrow. The cloudy weather will go 
on, and clouds will cover tonight. There may be some heavy rain at night. 
There may be some more rain tomorrow morning, but there will be some 
sunshine	in	the	afternoon.	The	temperature	will	fall	 to	10℃	tonight	but	
will	rise	to	19℃	tomorrow	afternoon.	
  

1. 내일 오후의 날씨에 해당하는 그림을 고르시오.

   ①        ② 

   ③        ④                                                                              

   ⑤ 

정답과 해설 p. 27
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 대니,          나는 필요로 해   네 도움을   난 ~이지 않아   정말 잘하는           빵 굽기를        

하지만  너는 구워        가장 맛좋은 케이크를     켈리가 말했다     

 나가자               빵 굽기 경연 대회에              함께               

 난 좋아하지 않아   경연 대회를   하지만  난 좋아해  일하는 것을    너와 함께        

그러니  난 할게        그것을  대니가 말했다.        

경연 대회에서             그들은 일했다          함께              

그들은 섞었다        모든 것을            그릇에 넣어         

 시간이야        그것을 넣을   팬에                    켈리가 말했다.      

그녀는 돌아섰다                  재빨리        탕         

그릇이 떨어졌다        탁자에서              켈리의 눈이            ~해졌다   (눈이) 크게 뜬  

 도와줘, 대니             그녀는 ~이었다  걱정스러운   대니는 들이마셨다   깊은 숨을                  

그는 움직였다     빠르게  그는 섞었다            두 번째 것을           그는 넣었다  그것을  팬에          

그들은 상을 타지 못했다    하지만  그들은 ~이었다  즐거운      

켈리는 말했다        너는 ~ 않았어            걱정스러워하는  훌륭한 제빵사는 ~이다  침착한   

나는 행동할 거야  너처럼

“Danny, / I need / your help. I’m not / really good at / baking. 

But / you bake / the best cake,” / said Kelly. 

“Let’s enter / the baking contest / together.” 

“I don’t like / contests. But / I like / working / with you. 

So / I will do / it,” / said Danny. 

At the contest, / they worked / together. 

They mixed / everything / in a bowl. 

“It’s time / to put it / in the pan,” / said Kelly. 

She turned around / quickly. Bam! 

The bowl fell / off the table. Kelly’s eyes / grew / wide. 

“Help, Danny!” She was / worried. Danny took / a deep breath. 

He moved / fast. He mixed up / a second one. He put / it / in the pan. 

They didn’t win, / but / they were / happy. 

Kelly said, / “You were not / worried. A good baker is / calm. 

I will act / like you.” 
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“Danny, I need your help. I’m not really good at baking. But you bake the 
best cake,” said Kelly. “Let’s enter the baking contest together.”
“I don’t like contests. But I like working with you. So I will do it,” said 
Danny. 

At the contest, they worked together. They mixed everything in a bowl. “It’s 
time to put it in the pan,” said Kelly. She turned around quickly. Bam! The 
bowl	fell	off	the	table.	Kelly’s eyes grew wide. “Help, Danny!” She was 
worried. Danny took a deep breath. He moved fast. He mixed up a second 
one. He put it in the pan.

They didn’t win, but they were happy. Kelly said, “You were not worried. 
A good baker is calm. I will act like you.”

1. Danny에 대한 설명이 윗글의 내용과 일치하는 것은? 

   ① He really likes contests.
   ② He enjoys working with Kelly. 
   ③ He is not good at baking. 
   ④ He mixed up two cakes. 
   ⑤ He got worried and nervous.

2. 밑줄 친 Kelly’s eyes grew wide.에 나타난 Kelly의 심경으로 

   가장 적절한 것은? 

   ① 기쁘다            ② 당황스럽다       ③ 무섭다

   ④ 슬프다        ⑤ 안심된다
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